2C.V

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

JUL 01 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DONNA COLLINS,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 95,869

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RATHLEEN STOVER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
201 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BELOW IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION ON

1) FACIALLY-APPARENT SENTENCING ERRORS
GENERALLY, STATE V. MANCINO, 714 SO.2D 429
(FLA. 1998); 2) WRITTEN REASONS FOR DEPARTURE, STATE V. JACKSON, 478 SO.2D 1054
(FLA. 1985), RECEDED FROM ON OTHER GROUNDS, WILKERSON V. STATE, 513 SO.2D 664 (FLA. 1987); AND 3) DOUBLE JEOPARDY WHERE DEFENDANT PLEADS, NOVATON V. STATE, 634 SO.2D 604 (FLA. 1994).

There are two issues in this case, and each is a discrete basis for this court's discretionary review. The first is whether an upward departure from the sentencing guidelines without written reasons is reversible on appeal, although not objected to; the second is whether a defendant can raise a double jeopardy issue on appeal, where the state dropped some charges as a result of a "plea agreement," but the dropped charges did not affect the upward departure sentence imposed.

A. No written departure order

Petitioner argued on appeal that her departure sentence should be vacated because the trial court failed to enter written reasons, and the issue is cognizable on appeal, even though

not preserved. The district court held the issue was not preserved by contemporaneous objection or a motion to correct under Rule 3.800(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Petitioner argued on rehearing, inter alia, that it was not feasible, or effective assistance, for defense counsel to make a contemporaneous objection to the lack of a written order. First, the court has 7 days to enter the order, so it is bizarre to expect an objection to something not yet due. Second, because the relief to which the defendant would be entitled is a guidelines sentence, a defense attorney would be ineffective if he or she did object. Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990).

The first issue is in the general category of what kinds of facially-apparent sentencing errors can be raised on direct appeal, although not objected to, after the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 (CARA). May 11, 1999, this court heard oral argument on four consolidated cases on this general issue.

Hyden v. State, 715 So.2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review granted, 728 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1999); Speights v. State, 711 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), review granted, 728 So.2d 203 and 204 (Fla. 1999); Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (en banc), review granted, 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1998) and 728 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1999); Edwards v. State, 707 So.2d 969 (Fla. 5th DCA), review granted, 718 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1998).

This case does not involve a specific issue like any in the cases just cited, but the issue here is even more egregious

than those in two cases in which the court has recently granted review, <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 728 So.2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review granted, no. 95,325 (Fla. June 18, 1999); <u>Weiss v. State</u>, 720 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review granted, 729 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1999).

In <u>Jordan</u>, the trial judge orally announced reasons for departure, the written order is dated the same day as sentencing, but the order was not filed until the 22nd day after sentencing, in violation of the statute and rule requiring filing within 7 days. The Third District held the issue was not preserved and not fundamental or prejudicial error.

In <u>Weiss</u>, the court orally announced reasons for departure when sentence was imposed August 19. The written judgment and sentence were filed August 26, but the written departure reasons were not filed until August 29. The Third District held the 7 days commenced when the written judgment was filed August 26, thus the written reasons were timely. If counted from the oral imposition, the issue was not preserved, fundamental or prejudicial.

The facts of the instant case are more egregious and thus even more deserving of this court's review, because written reasons for departure here were not merely filed late; they were **never** filed, in violation of <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 478 So.2d 1054, 1055 (Fla.1985), receded from on other grounds, <u>Wilkerson v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 664 (Fla.1987).

Petitioner contends that the lack of written reasons falls

within the definition set out in <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So.2d 429, 433 (Fla. 1998):

A sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition "illegal".

Because the statute requires written reasons for departure, the court's failure to enter them "patently fails to comport with [a] statutory. . .limitation," thus petitioner's sentence must be reversed. This court should accept review in order to harmonize this decision of the district court with Mancino and Jackson.

B. Double jeopardy

Petitioner argued on appeal that dual convictions of cheating and felony petit theft violated double jeopardy. The district court held she was not entitled to relief under Novaton v. State, 634 So.2d 607 (Fla. 1994), because she entered into a "plea bargain." Petitioner argued on appeal and rehearing that Novaton requires an actual benefit from the "plea bargain" before the defendant is precluded from raising double jeopardy on appeal.

Petitioner contends that the district court misapplied

Novaton to the facts of her case, which is a basis for conflict
jurisdiction in this court. State v. Stacey, 482 So.2d 1350

(Fla. 1985) ("We have jurisdiction because the court below
misapplied controlling case law to the facts of the case").

In <u>Novaton</u>, this court held that, even though double jeopardy is generally fundamental error, entering into a plea

bargain waived the right to make a double jeopardy claim for the first time on appeal. <u>Collins</u>, 1999 WL 201976, at p.3. Petitioner distinguished <u>Novaton</u> on the ground that the bargain there included an agreement as to the sentence, while hers did not. The district court held, "This is not a controlling difference." <u>Id.</u> The district court concluded:

. . . Novaton does not require any particular component to be part of a plea bargain as a prerequisite to entry of the conforming plea's effecting a waiver of double jeopardy rights. The opinion clearly provides that the only "requirement" is a "plea bargain" followed by implementation of the conditions of the plea bargain. In the face of such a clear expression by the court, any exception must come from it. (emphasis added)

Id.

Petitioner contends that the district court overlooked crucial distinctions between <u>Novaton</u> and the instant case and thereby misapplied it to the facts here. <u>Novaton</u> stands for the principle that the defendant must derive a real, not merely an illusory, benefit from the plea bargain (which must be "mutually advantageous," 634 So.2d at 608) in order to preclude her from raising double jeopardy on appeal.

Novaton received a benefit, which has no analogy in the instant case, from his bargain:

Novaton entered into a plea bargain with the State to eliminate the possibility of being sentenced to life without parole as a habitual violent felony offender. . . Novaton agreed to. . .a total [sentence] that was clearly less than that which he could have received absent this bargained plea. . .the offenses that he claims violate the

double jeopardy clause would not have affected his adjudication as a habitual violent felony offender and his sentence of life without parole.

634 So.2d at 609.

This court has already said it would reach a different result in the case of a failure of consideration. Because Collins' situation approaches a failure of consideration, it is far closer to the exception recognized in Novaton for lack of consideration, than to the facts of Novaton.

Novaton expressly recognized that a "straight up" plea with no agreement as to sentence does **not** preclude a double jeopardy argument on appeal. The slightly more narrow question here is whether that principle applies when some charges have been dropped, but they did not affect the sentence imposed.

The district court said any exception to <u>Novaton</u> would have to come from this court, 1999 WL 302976, p.3, but it already has. Unlike Novaton, Collins did not receive a sentence which was clearly less than what she could have received without the "bargain." The dropped charges would have added only a few points to her scoresheet, but the judge did not sentence her in accordance with the guidelines (with or without the additional points), but rather, imposed an upward-departure sentence. Petitioner contends the district court misapplied <u>Novaton</u> to her, because she received no benefit from her "plea bargain."

Because only the same or lesser-degree charges were dropped; the dropped charges would have made little difference

in the guidelines; and the trial court exceeded the guidelines, petitioner received little or no benefit of the purported plea bargain, thus her case comes within the exception in Novaton, not its holding. It is interesting to compare what this court said in a different context in <u>Puffinberger v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1991):

nonscoreable juvenile record may be considered as a reason for departure. . . only if the record is significant and the resulting departure sentence is no greater than that which the defendant would have received if the record had been scored." (emphasis added)

<u>Id.</u> at 899-900.

The essence of <u>Novaton</u> is that the defendant may not argue double jeopardy on appeal where she has received some benefit from the plea negotiation. Where, as here, the defendant received no benefit from dropping some charges, she may make a double jeopardy argument on appeal. Petitioner therefor asks this court to accept jurisdiction to consider the correctness of the district court's application of <u>Novaton</u> to the facts of her case.

IV CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner urges this Court to accept jurisdiction to resolve these issues.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER
Fla. Bar No. 0513253
Assistant Public Defender
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe, Suite 401
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER