PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent State of Florida was the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, DONNA COLLINS, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

CERTIFICATION OF TYPE AND FONT

This brief was prepared using New Courier 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the district court attached in slip opinion form. It can also be found at 24 Fla. L. Weekly 981.

The state accepts petitioner's statement for the purposes of determining discretionary jurisdiction.

-1-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has not shown that there is direct and express conflict between the decision below and decisions of this Court or other district courts.

The absence of written reasons for departure was not preserved in the trial court and is thus not cognizable on appeal pursuant to numerous authorities relied on by the district court.

Similarly, the **decision** of the district court that petitioner's plea bargain to convictions for various offenses in return for the state nol prossing other charges brought the plea bargain within the control of <u>Novaton v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 607 (Fla. 1994) and waived double jeopardy considerations, does not create conflict with <u>Novaton</u> or other decisions of this Court or other district courts.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

,

.

ISSUE

DOES THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT, RELYING ON DAVIS V. STATE, 661 SO.2D 1193 (FLA. 1995), THAT FAILURE TO ENTER WRITTEN REASONS FOR A GUIDELINES DEPARTURE IS NOT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHICH RENDERS THE SENTENCE ILLEGAL AND, RELYING ON NOVATON V. STATE, 634 SO.2D 607 (FLA. 1994), THAT PETITIONER WAIVED HER DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIMS BY A PLEA BARGAIN UNDER WHICH SHE PLED GUILTY TO SPECIFIED CRIMES IN RETURN FOR THE STATE NOL PROSSING OTHER CHARGES CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS? (Restated)

Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution which provides

> :The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). <u>Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l</u> <u>Adoption Counseling Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves</u>, <u>supra</u>; Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) ("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting

- 3 -

or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the "conflict of *decisions*, not conflict of *opinions* or *reasons* that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

,

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

> It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Written Departure Order

The trial court imposed an upward departure sentence at the urging of the state and informed Collins as to the reasons for the upward departure at the sentencing hearing. Although the sentencing took place on 10 November 1997, Collins did not file a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)¹ challenging the reasons for the upward departure sentence. Collins argued on appeal that the trial court committed

¹Rule 3.800(b) became effective 1 January 1997.

reversible error in not entering a written departure order. The district court declined to address the unpreserved sentencing claim, relying on sections 924.051(1)(b) and (3), Florida Statutes (1997); Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b); <u>Neal v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Amendments to</u> <u>the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996); and <u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>, 685 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1996). All of these authorities require that sentencing issues be first raised in the trial court and reflect the state of the law after the enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 and its implementation by this Court in the <u>Amendments</u> above after 1 January 1997.

The district court could also have relied on Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.140(b)(2) and 9.140(d) which unequivocally prohibit appeals of sentencing claims which have not been properly preserved in the trial court.

The district court also relied on this Court's decision in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1995), which predates the Reform Act and its implementation by this Court, because of its onpoint holding that the absence of written departure reasons is not fundamental error and does not render a sentence illegal.

Petitioner has not cited any post-Reform Act case which directly and expressly conflicts with the decision below. There is no basis for conflict jurisdiction based on the absence of the written departure reasons.

- 5 -

Double Jeopardy

Collins was charged with 32 criminal counts. She entered into a plea bargain with the state under which she pled guilty to 18 of those counts, in return for which the state nol prossed the remaining 14 criminal counts. These pleas all took place after 1 January 1997 but no motion was filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170(1) to withdraw from the plea bargain. Instead, for the first time on appeal, Collins argued that the crimes to which she pled are a double jeopardy violation and that certain of her convictions must be reversed on appeal as fundamental error. In other words, Collins wanted part of the plea bargain to be nullified while she retained the benefit of the bargained for nol prossed charges.

The district court felt compelled to address the double jeopardy claim but decided that there was an obvious plea bargain involved and, pursuant to <u>Novaton v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 607 (Fla. 1994), Collins had waived any double jeopardy claim she might have had **if** there had not been a plea bargain. The district court correctly applied <u>Novaton</u> to the facts of the case and petitioner has not shown any direct and express conflict.

It should also be noted that the district court decision is also consistent with rule 9.140(b)(2) which prohibits any appeal from a plea where no issues have been preserved in the trial court and no motion to withdraw from the plea has been filed. Thus, Collins' remedy, if any, and if she wishes to exercise it, is not in the district court or this Court - it is in the trial

- 6 -

court by motion to withdraw from the plea bargain pursuant to rule 3.170(1).

,

,

•

.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to show any direct or express conflict between the decision below and decisions of this Court or of any other district court. The petition for discretionary review should be denied.